1948

Silver King Coalition Mines Company and Continental Casualty Company v. Industrial Commission of Utah and Susan J. Mitchell : Brief of Plaintiffs

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Lester A. Mitchell was an employee of the plaintiff Silver King Coalition Mines Company at its mine in Park City, and the plaintiff Continental Casualty Company carries the Workman's Compensation insurance for the mining company. Mr. Mitchell left his employment with the mining company on December 10 or 12, 1946 because he was not physically able to perform his work. (R. 22, 38) He died June 6, 1947. (R. 3, 38) It is not clear how long he worked for the plaintiff mining company. The application for compensation, (R. 3), states that he worked for the mining company from

July 28, 1937, to December 13, 1946. His associate, A. J. Frantz, stated that he was off for one year during 1938 and then worked until December 13, 1946. (R. 37, 38) A period of eight years and five months. Although Dr. Wherritt said that the deceased had mentioned that he worked for the mining company or in the area around Park City for twenty-two years, that was only the doctor's impression, and he is not sure of it. (R. 28, 29) The definite evidence shows that he worked a maximum of eight years and five months which was not continuous. His continuous employment prior to his death was eight years.

Up until the last few months he appeared normal and active. (R. 22) On December 9, however, he was examined by Dr. Wherritt, and his condition was such that he discontinued work because he was physically unable to work. (R. 23) The immediate cause of his death was congestive heart failure. (R. 24) At the hearing Dr. Wherritt said the heart failure was due to silicosis, although the Commission was advised before the hearing that Dr. Wherritt's death certificate did not give silicosis as a cause of death. (R. 65) The doctor, however, did not take any x-rays but had them taken by Dr. Viko. He does not do that work. (R. 24) Five or six months before his death Mr. Mitchell developed dropsy which was directly due to his heart trouble, which heart trouble gradually grew worse as time went on. (R. 25) Dr. Wherritt came to the conclusion that the man had silicosis because he couldn't

expand his lungs and was short of breath. He conceded that silicosis must be very pronounced or extensive to affect the heart. (R. 26, 27) He also stated that any disease of the heart would cause shortness of breath and lack of expansion in the lungs. Dr. Wherritt said you couldn't tell from physical examination alone that the heart trouble is due to silicosis, and he conceded that all he did was make a physical examination. (R. 28) Dr. Wherritt first examined the man December 9, 1946, (R. 23), although he states that he had known him as a neighbor for many years but had not examined him for ten years. (R. 21) He also stated that he was not in a position to state what degree of silicosis Mr. Mitchell had. (R. 25)

No claim was ever made for compensation until September 29, 1947. (R. 3) The doctor's report was not filed until July 12, 1947, and the first that plaintiffs ever heard of Mr. Mitchell at all was a week or so after his death, (R. 46), by means of a letter from the Secretary of the local union dated June 12, 1947, and received June 13, 1947. (R. 60) Mr. Peterson, the representative of the plaintiff insurance company, saw Mr. Payne, the signer of the letter, exhibit 60, after he had received the letter and asked why we were not notified of these occupational disease cases until after the man had died, and Mr. Payne said that he had informed claimants generally in that area in connection with occupational disease not to report the case until after the man had died, and then in case an autopsy was requested to deny the autopsy. (R. 46, 47)

Dr. Wherritt sent the man to Dr. Viko, (R. 24), who examined the deceased only once on December 17, 1946, and the result of his examination lead the doctor to the opinion that the man had silicosis and cor pulmonale due to chronic lung disease. (R. 30) Cor pulmonale is enlarged heart displaced to the right due to chronic lung disease. (R. 32, 34, 35) (Commonly called right sided heart failure.) He was of the opinion that the silicosis was not severe enough in itself to cause disablement, "but with the heart disease he was totally disabled." The doctor stated that there could be one other factor in the distortion of the chest, an old empyema, due to pneumonia which the man had many years ago. (R. 30, 31)

The Inter-Mountain Clinic, Dr. Viko's clinic, took x-rays of Mr. Mitchell December 17, 1946, No. 28863, and they are now here in this court as Exhibits in that case. (R. 31) The most striking thing about the x-rays is the heart. It is generally enlarged, and the doctor was of the opinion that he had cor pulmonale and that he had diffused nodular silicosis. (R. 31) The doctor was of the opinion that silicosis produced cor pulmonale (enlargement of the heart), (R. 33), but there was also emphysema, or air in the chest cavity, present and that also contributed to the enlargement of the heart, and the emphysema and the silicosis combined caused the cor pulmonale, and which one is predominate would be hard to say. (R. 33, 34) From the x-rays alone it would be difficult to say that there is sufficient evidence of

silicosis to cause heart trouble. (R. 34) The silicosis shown by his x-rays is not as severe as third degree silicosis, and there is no area of conglomeration. By themselves the pictures leave some doubt as to whether silicosis was of sufficient severity to cause cor pulmonale. (R. 35) Dr. Viko conceded that an autopsy would show the cause of death and positively confirm the degree of silicosis, determine the type of heart disease and would rule out the possibility of any other heart disease. Without an autopsy the degree of silicosis is uncertain. (R. 36)

Dr. Viko apparently was of the school of thought that believes that cor pulmonale can be caused by silicosis even when the silicosis is not of sufficient severity to be disabling and the x-rays show no area of conglomeration. Dr. Viko did not produce x-rays which disclose nor did he testify his x-rays disclose discrete nodules of fibrous tissue similarly disseminated throughout both lungs. He also conceded that the greater the silicosis the greater the probability of cor pulmonale. (R. 35)

Dr. Richards testified, and as will appear, he is of the school of thought that holds that heart trouble does not come from silicosis, and that if it could the silicosis would have to be of the greatest severity, would have to be disabling and would be clearly disclosed by x-ray. There are two schools of thought, one of which is recognized by Dr. Viko and not recognized by our statute,

and the other recognized by Dr. Richards and by our statute.

Dr. Richards is one of the outstanding specialists on silicosis in the inter-mountain country. He is a practitioner of twenty-five years, experienced with this disease and in taking x-rays of it and interpreting the x-rays. (R. 40) In case No. 7172 the applicant's attorney conceded (R. 131 in that case) that in the Western states there is no one who has had as much practice and experience with silicosis as Dr. Richards, and that he is a medical expert of great and unusual talent. Dr. Richards examined the x-rays taken by Dr. Viko's clinic, and those x-rays did not disclose to him any evidence of pulmonary heart disease. There is an enlargement of the heart, and there is some silicosis present. There is diffused nodulation throughout, especially in the right chest, but only a moderate amount of nodulation in the left chest. (R. 41) There is no nodulation similarly disseminated throughout both lungs. From an x-ray standpoint you cannot say that this is silicosis, but from the man's history you could interpret these films as silicosis. There is enough suggestion of silicosis in the films to require a further and positive diagnosis, and if the man is dead, the only way to make that determination would be by autopsy. If an autopsy were denied, "I would say you would be in a precarious state to make a diagnosis of silicosis." (R. 41, 42) Even if this should be silicosis it is not the type of silicosis that would cause death. Whether or not silicosis can cause heart disease is an

extremely controversial question. Those who are most acquainted with silicosis do not feel that the amount of silicosis shown here, if it is silicosis, is the type that causes heart failure. The only positive way to determine it is by autopsy, and in the absence of autopsy it is purely speculative and controversial. (R. 43) In answer to leading questions from the Commissioner Dr. Richards repeated that in his experience and in the contacts he had had, "I would say provided this is silicosis, it is not the type of silicosis that we see as a causative factor of cor pulmonale," and he has never seen a case of cor pulmonale with that amount of silicosis. The x-rays show only a minimum of silicosis, if it is silicosis at all. (R. 44, 45) The Commissioner argued with and lead the doctor through several pages of the record, but the doctor concluded: "It is too easy to make a diagnosis of a situation and then reason back to some findings to cause that situation. The trouble with this silicosis is these controversial things, that anyone who is thoroughly acquainted with silicosis could not accept that as a diagnosis of silicosis and say it is an ideological factor in cor pulmonale." (R. 45) We shall later in the brief refer to our statute defining silicosis and show that the pattern of silicosis is always the same; that it is uniform in everybody; that in fact Dr. Viko himself stated: "The only question that could arise is whether the silicosis was of sufficient degree to produce cor pulmonale. Perhaps it is not by itself; but with a considerable degree of emphysema sufficient to cause cor pulmonale there might be a question whether the old

distortion of the chest from empyema might be a factor I could not say." (R. 32) Dr. Richards' statement that the nodulation is not similarly disseminated throughout both lungs is not disputed, and from the record it is undisputed that Dr. Viko conceded that it was questionable whether the silicosis present was of sufficient severity to cause cor pulmonale. Dr. Richards was positive that it was not of sufficient severity, and both doctors agreed that the positive way of determining the question was by autopsy.

After we learned of the existence of Mr. Mitchell, which as a matter of fact was not until he had passed out of existence and was buried, and after we had exhausted means of learning the cause of death, our representative wrote to Mrs. Mitchell, the applicant, Exhibit 2, (R. 47, 61) calling her attention to the fact that the cause of death was doubtful; that he had exhausted his efforts to determine the cause of death, and that the only way it could be determined was by autopsy. He requested her to allow an autopsy and stated that if the autopsy showed silicosis, payments would be made immediately. To this letter Mrs. Mitchell replied, Exhibit 3, (R. 47, 62) refusing an autopsy erroneously secure in her belief and for the reason that the doctor said it was too late because Mr. Mitchell had been dead six months. Mr. Peterson wrote her again, Exhibit 4, (R. 48, 63), requesting autopsy and advising her that Dr. Carlquist of the L.D.S. Hospital and Dr. Ogilvie of the St. Marks Hospital advised that the autopsy could be

successfully performed. Mrs. Mitchell for no reason again refused the autopsy, Exhibit 5, (R. 48, 64), and we then applied to the Industrial Commission for an autopsy setting forth the facts very fully. In the letter to the Commission we called attention to the fact that Dr. Wherritt's death certificate said the death was due to congestive heart failure but did not say anything at all about silicosis. We called attention of the Commission to the fact that there was doubt that the man had died from silicosis; that it was possible for a successful autopsy, but the Commission refused to allow it. (Exhibits 6 and 7, R. 48, 49, 65, 66)

As soon as we learned of the death we began making investigations. We interviewed Dr. Viko who said that there was an indication of silicosis, that sputum tests would have to be taken to make the case more conclusive and gave his permission to have the x-rays examined by Dr. Richards. Dr. Viko told Mr. Peterson that autopsy was the only thing that would definitely confirm the cause of death. (R. 49, 50) The x-rays were submitted to Dr. Richards with the result as shown.

The applicant testified as to the degree of her dependency on the deceased, and about all that one can glean from the record is that he paid for the food they both ate and the taxes on her home, and that at one time he had the house fixed up, and that he paid for the fuel. She owned the home. She paid the light bill, bought her own clothes, and has an income from social security. There is not a word of evidence as to how much he con-

tributed to her, nor that she was dependent upon him. In this state of the record the Commission made an award in the same objectionable manner it did in case No. 7172 in a total sum and made absolutely no finding at all of dependency. Petition for rehearing was duly made, (R. 14), denied, (R. 16) The case is here by certiorari.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

1. The decision of the Commission is not supported by substantial competent evidence having probative value.

2. The Commission acted without or in excess of its powers.

3. The Commission abused its discretion in refusing an autopsy in this case.

4. The award even if properly supported is not in conformance with the Occupational Disease Law of the State of Utah.

APPLICABLE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

U.C.A. 1943

42-1a-29. SILICOSIS—DEFINED.

“For the purpose of this act ‘silicosis’ is defined as a chronic disease of the lungs caused by the prolonged inhalation of silicon dioxide dust (SiO_2) characterized by small discrete nodules of fibrous tissue similarly disseminated through-

out both lungs, causing a characteristic X-ray pattern, and by variable clinical manifestations.”

42-1a-47. AUTOPSY IN DEATH CLAIMS.

“On the filing of a claim for compensation for death from an occupational disease where in the opinion of the commission it is necessary to accurately and scientifically ascertain the cause of death, an autopsy may be ordered by any member of the commission and shall be made by a person designated by such member of the commission. The person requesting any such autopsy shall pay the charge of the physician making the same. Any person interested may designate a duly licensed physician to attend such autopsy, and the findings of the physician performing the autopsy shall be filed with the commission and shall be a public record. All proceedings for compensation shall be suspended upon refusal of a claimant or claimants to permit such autopsy when so ordered. Where an autopsy has been performed pursuant to an order of any member of the commission no cause of action shall lie against any person, firm or corporation for participating in or requesting such autopsy.”

42-1a-25, as amended by Laws of 1945. COMPENSATION FOR SILICOSIS—SCHEDULE OF AMOUNTS—INCREASE OF PAYMENTS—DEATH BENEFITS TO DEPENDENTS.

* * *

“(b) In case of death from silicosis the dependents of the deceased employee shall receive the difference between the amount paid prior to death, if any, for the total disability as in paragraph (a) of this section set forth, and a maxi-

mum sum to be determined as follows: A maximum of not to exceed \$3,000 if such disability or death, whichever first occurs, results in the calendar month of July, 1945, and if such disability or death, whichever first occurs, results in August, 1945, a maximum of not to exceed \$3,050 and after August, 1945, the maximum amount shall increase at the rate of \$50 per calendar month and the maximum amount shall be determined in all cases by the month in which the disability or death, whichever first occurs, results, provided, however, that in no case of death from silicosis shall the employer be required to pay compensation in excess of the difference between the sum of \$5,000 and the amount paid, if any, for total disability prior to the occurrence of death. The compensation for death shall be paid to such dependents at four week intervals at the rate of \$16 per week plus 5% for each dependent minor child under the age of 18 years, up to and including 5 dependent minor children.”

42-1a-33. BENEFITS—TO WHOM PAID—MANNER—TERMINATION.

“* * * Should any dependent of a deceased employee die during the period covered by such weekly payments, the right of such dependent to compensation under this act shall cease; *provided*, that should a widow who is the sole dependent of the deceased employee, and who is receiving the benefits of this act, remarry during the period covered by such weekly payments, she shall be entitled to receive in a lump sum payment one-third of the benefits remaining unpaid at the time of such remarriage.

“In all cases where the weekly payment is increased 5% or 10% for each dependent minor child such increase shall cease at the death, marriage, attainment of the age of eighteen years, or termination of dependency of each such child.”

The rules of evidence and the provisions for review are quite different in the Occupational Disease Law than they are in the Workman's Compensation Act as follows:

OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE
42-1a-39. Id. PROCEDURE
—EXTENT OF REVIEW.

“* * * The review shall not be extended further than to determine:

(a) Whether or not the Commission acted without or in excess of its powers.

(b) Whether or not findings of fact are supported by substantial competent evidence having probative value.”

42-1a-43. RULES OF PROCEDURE.

“* * * Hearsay evidence shall not be admissible. No party to any proceeding shall be prejudiced by his or its failure to make objections or to take exceptions at any hearing.”

WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION

42-1-78. Id.

“* * * The review shall not be extended further than to determine:

(1) Whether or not the Commission acted without or in excess of its powers.

(2) If findings of fact are made, whether or not such findings of fact support the award under review.”

42-1-82. RULES OF EVIDENCE BEFORE COMMISSION.

Contains no such provisions as those opposite and permits Commission to make investigations according to its judgment.

ARGUMENT

The facts in the other case No. 7172 in this court differ from this case in detail, but the two cases essentially give rise to the same principles of law. A con-

sideration of the cases involve two main subjects: (1) Is there substantial competent evidence having probative value to support the findings of the Commission and (2) Did the Commission abuse its discretion in refusing an autopsy in this case?

In this case as in the other case there is no evidence whatever that in the plaintiff mine deceased was exposed for five years in the last ten to silicon dioxide dust. However, the foregoing two questions are also relied upon in this case as in the other case to annul the award of the Commission because they demonstrate not only arbitrary and capricious action on the part of the Commission, but a complete lack of understanding by the Commission of the Occupational Disease Law and the elements essential to a finding of death or disability under its provisions.

Under the first heading naturally come the questions does the evidence comply with our statutory definition of silicosis and what actually is the substance of the evidence as disclosed by the testimony of *all* the witnesses. Under heading II arises the question of whether our autopsy statute has any value whatever and whether parties have any rights whatever under it in view of the attitude of the present Commission. In passing may we remark at this point that never before have autopsies been refused by the Commission. The Commission heretofore always has taken the position that it sought for and required all the evidence it could secure in order to protect the rights of both parties and make certain

as far as possible that actual justice was done by the Commission. Never until now under the Occupational Disease Law has the Commission considered itself to be the guardian of the sentiments or whims of one party against the substantial rights of the opponent. Never until now has the Commission taken the position that its function is to guard one party from possible adverse evidence in order to make an award against the other party. Also under heading II comes the point of the wording of the Commission's award.

I.

IS THERE SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE HAVING PROBATIVE VALUE TO SUPPORT THE FINDINGS OF THE COMMISSION?

At the outset it may be well to bear in mind that tuberculosis itself is not an occupational disease; also that in case of disability or death from silicosis when complicated with any disease other than pulmonary tuberculosis, compensation shall be reduced as provided in Section 51. (42-1a-30). Heart disease caused the death here. Silicosis as defined by our statute is not even present, and even the evidence of silicosis fails to establish it as the cause of death.

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