1948

Silver King Coalition Mines Company and Continental Casualty Company v. Industrial Commission of Utah and Susan J. Mitchell : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Defendants feel that the Plaintiffs' Statement of Facts contained in their Brief on file herein sufficiently presents the basic facts of this case necessary to an understanding of the issues involved. The Defendants, therefore, have no additional statements of fact to make at this time. Defendants do, however, feel that

the facts already before the Court do need some amplification and further interpretation, but in order to avoid duplications said facts will be referred to in the Defendants' argument.

QUESTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

QUESTION No. 1

Was the Industrial Commission's decision supported by the evidence or did the commission exceed its powers by arbitrarily and capriciously disregarding uncontradicted evidence?

QUESTION No. II

Did the Commission abuse its discretion in refusing an autopsy in this case?

QUESTION No. III

Was the award in conformance with the occupational disease law of the State of Utah?

ARGUMENTS

WAS THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S DECISION SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR DID THE COMMISSION EXCEED ITS POWERS BY ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY DISREGARDING UNCONTRADICTED EVIDENCE?

The Defendants hardly feel it necessary to point out to this Court with any high degree of elaboration the numerous rulings which this honorable body and the Supreme Courts of all other states have handed down

relative to the respective duties of the Industrial Commission and the Supreme Courts in relation to those cases which are decided by industrial commissions. The Defendants desire, therefore, only to briefly and summarily refer to the law of this state on that issue. Our Supreme Court is limited to a determination of whether or not said commission has exceeded its powers in relation to the facts or has disregarded some provision of law in the making or denying of an award, or whether or not the commission in the decision in question has arbitrarily or capriciously disregarded uncontradicted evidence.

(See *Utah Consolidated Mining Company vs. Industrial Commission*, 66 Utah 173, 240 Pac. 440 and *Kelly vs. Industrial Commission*, 80 Utah 73, 12 Pac. (2d) 1112).

If the commission's findings are supported by the evidence and if any inference may be reasonably drawn from the evidence presented to support said findings, our Supreme Court has no authority to upset the Industrial Commission's decision.

(See *Park Utah Consolidated Mines vs. Industrial Commission*, 84 Utah 481, 36 Pac. (2d) 979; *Russell vs. Industrial Commission*, 86 Utah 306, 43 Pac. (2d) 1069; *Woodburn vs. Industrial Commission*, Utah, 181 Pac. (2d) 209).

The Supreme Court does not weigh conflicting evidence nor determine which witnesses are to be believed nor can it in any way substitute its own judgment for that of the commission.

(See *Parker vs. Industrial Commission*, 78 Utah 509, 5 Pac. (2d) 573; *Bain vs. Industrial Commission*, 58 Utah 370, 199 Pac. 666; *Ostler vs. Industrial Commission*, 84 Utah 428, 36 Pac. (2d) 95; *Tintic Standard Mining Company vs. Industrial Commission*, 100 Utah 96, 110 Pac. (2d) 367; *Norris vs. Industrial Commission*, 90 Utah 256, 61 Pac. (2d) 413).

The Industrial Commission is the final arbiter of the facts and conflicts in the testimony and has the right to weigh the testimony of the various witnesses and to test their credibility.

(See *Milkovich vs. Industrial Commission*, 91 Utah 498, 64 Pac. (2d) 1290; *Chief Consolidated Mining Company vs. Industrial Commission*, 70 Utah 333, 260 Pac. 271; *Norris vs. Industrial Commission*, *supra*; *Kent vs. Industrial Commission*, 89 Utah 381, 57 Pac. (2d) 724; *Sugar vs. Industrial Commission*, 94 Utah 56, 75 Pac. (2d) 3117).

Innumerable other cases could be referred to to support the rules given above relative to the respective duties of the Supreme Court and the Industrial Commission, but to cite further cases would be merely cumulative rather than informative.

The Defendants submit that the testimony taken in this case at the hearing before the Industrial Commission contains considerable evidence supporting the decision of the commission to the effect that the deceased contracted silicosis, an occupational disease arising out of and in the course of his employment, and as a result of his exposure to silicon dioxide dust while employed

by the Silver King Coalition Mines at Park City, Utah, which silicosis, an occupational disease, caused the death of said Lester A. Mitchell, deceased.

Silicosis, under Utah law, is defined in Section 42-1a-29 U.C.A., 1943 as follows:

“For the purpose of this act ‘silicosis’ is defined as a chronic disease of the lungs caused by the prolonged inhalation of silicon dioxide dust (SiO_2) characterized by small discrete nodules of fibrous tissue similarly disseminated throughout both lungs, causing a characteristic X-ray pattern, and by variable clinical manifestations.”

The Defendants desire herewith to point out the evidence supporting the fact of death having been caused by silicosis in the case now before the Court. Dr. William R. Wherritt had known the deceased since the deceased was born and had treated him over that period of time for various ailments at various times. It was not until December 9, 1946 that Dr. Wherritt had any cause to examine the deceased for any matters related to his last illness or the illness which is now in issue before this body. At that time the deceased was given a physical examination. Dr. Wherritt found the deceased short of breath, found a rasping cough, and dilated heart with prominent decompensation, and determined that he was unable to work further. (Tr. 23). Dr. Wherritt took no X-ray pictures because he does no X-ray work, but he did refer him to Dr. L. E. Viko of the Intermountain Clinic in Salt Lake City, Utah. Dr. Wherritt treated the deceased until he died and signed the death certificate. He gave the immediate cause of death as congestive heart

failure due to silicosis. Apparently, he found no tuberculosis. (Tr. 24). Dr. Wherritt was unable to give the degree of silicosis but did emphasize that the heart trouble which was the immediate cause of death was due to the silicosis from which the deceased was also suffering at that time. He explained that silicosis caused the heart trouble. The condition of the lungs due to silicosis made it so the deceased could not expand nor could he get sufficient oxygen into his lungs. He became short of breath and would sometimes have to stop work from sheer exhaustion. This condition was what affected his heart and caused the heart trouble from which he died. Dr. Wherritt also explained on cross examination that even though he could not state the degree of silicosis suffered by the deceased, the effect of the silicosis would be in proportion to its advancement. If it were a mild case of silicosis it would not have much effect on the heart but as the silicosis advanced in severity its effect on the heart would become greater; but that silicosis definitely did have effect upon the heart for the reasons stated (Tr. 25 and 26).

Dr. L. E. Viko of the Intermountain Clinic in Salt Lake City is no doubt considered one of the best heart specialists in the State of Utah. At the instance of Dr. Wherritt the deceased was examined by Dr. Viko on December 17, 1946. Dr. Viko found the deceased suffering from silicosis and cor pulmonale due to chronic lung disease. Cor pulmonale, as defined by Dr. Viko, means "heart disease due to chronic lung disease." (Tr. 30-34 and 35). Dr. Viko found "a moderately severe" case

of silicosis with the deceased; that the silicosis was severe enough to cause disablement; that the silicosis plus the heart disease made the deceased totally disabled; that the heart disease of the deceased was caused by the silicosis and its complications, and that the silicosis was an important factor and an essential cause in the production of the heart disease which was the final cause of death ('Tr. 31-32-33 and 36). Dr. Viko had X-ray pictures taken and the results of his examination were verified by the pictures. In other words, the X-ray also disclosed silicosis and heart disease. Dr. Viko was very definite in his conclusions that silicosis was a contributing factor to the deceased's death even though the heart condition might have been classed as the chief cause of death. ('Tr. 31 and 32). Again it might be pointed out that Dr. Viko is a very noted heart specialist and that his testimony now relates to matters about which he should be very well advised. He was placed under strenuous cross examination and verified the matters which have here been called to the Court's attention. As with Dr. Wherritt, he also made the point which seems very simple and reasonable; namely, that a slight degree of silicosis is bound to effect breathing and the use of the lungs in a slight degree, but the fact remains it does affect the heart by making breathing more difficult and the functioning of the heart in connection with the lungs more difficult. For the same reason a severe case of silicosis would affect the breathing and the use of the lungs to a much greater degree and would put much greater strain on the heart; but

again the fact remains that the heart is affected in these cases. (Tr. 35).

Dr. Paul S. Richards was used by the Plaintiffs in this case as one of their witnesses. His testimony is very completely reported in the Plaintiffs' Brief and the Defendants therefore refrain from any extensive review of the same testimony. Dr. Richards seems to be personally of the opinion that the deceased had a moderate amount of silicosis. He had never personally seen the deceased but based his decision upon examining the X-rays taken by Dr. Viko. It is clear from his testimony that he was at all times in doubt when called upon to make definite statements. He seemed also to be of the personal opinion that the heart trouble of the deceased could not have been caused by the degree of silicosis suffered by the deceased. He did spend a lot of time, however, explaining that there are two fields of thought, one that silicosis affects the heart and another that silicosis does not affect the heart and that he, himself, was inclined to believe with the latter group. Dr. Richards admitted that where a doctor is able to contact a patient personally he is in a much better position to determine the nature of the patient's ailments, and that had he had an opportunity to have seen the patient personally he would be in a much better position to advise as to whether or not he had silicosis. (Tr. 42). Dr. Richards further advised that if he knew that a patient had been exposed to dangerous dusts and should see other symptoms related to silicosis and knew the man's history, then "you could interpret into these films (X-ray

pictures of the deceased) that he has silicosis''. (Tr. 42). It might be pointed out to the Court that Drs. Wherrit and Viko had personal contact with the deceased, knew his history, observed him while alive and that there is evidence of exposure to silicon dioxide dust. The deceased had a long history of work underground at the Silver King Coalition Mines. (Tr. 38). These doctors who had the contact which Dr. Richards stated was advisable hesitated in no way whatsoever to state that the deceased had silicosis and that it contributed to his final cause of death. Dr. Richards finally, after much examination, admitted that he did not know the cause of death in the case of Lester A. Mitchell, deceased. (Tr. 45).

DID THE COMMISSION ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING AN AUTOPSY IN THIS CASE?

Our State law does provide for the ordering of an autopsy in those cases where "in the opinion of the commission it is necessary to accurately and scientifically ascertain the cause of death''. (42-1a-47, U.C.A., 1943). It is conceded that the commission refused to order the autopsy in this case partly out of deference to the wishes of the deceased's family but primarily because at no time did it appear to the commission that the cause of death could not be otherwise determined. The facts which must be depended upon by the commission to rule on the cause of death are so closely related to this particular issue that the Defendants feel that a decision on that question would more or less automatically decide

the issue in this particular problem. In other words, if the commission properly acted within its powers in deciding that silicosis was the cause of death, then a decision that no autopsy was necessary would also be proper because we must then say that a decision as to the cause of death needed no autopsy. The Defendants also desire to point out that Dr. Viko stated that no autopsy was necessary to determine the type of heart trouble suffered by the deceased; that no autopsy was needed to determine if silicosis was there or that one had contributed to the other. Dr. Viko did say that an autopsy would settle the question of degree to which the silicosis in the deceased's lungs had advanced but he did not advise it as necessary. (Tr. 36). We submit that the granting or the failure to grant an order for an autopsy is purely discretionary with the commission and whether the right to such an autopsy was properly or improperly denied in this case will be automatically determined in the issue of whether or not there was sufficient evidence to support the decision and the award of the commission.

WAS THE AWARD IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE LAW OF THE STATE OF UTAH?

The matter of dependency in this case related to a mother depending on her son, the deceased herein, and it is a case where dependency is not presumed but must be determined from the facts (See Section 42-1-67, U.C.A., 1943). Evidence was taken in the case before the Court

to determine dependency and Commissioner Egan of the Industrial Commission led the inquiry to make such determination. The evidence shows that the mother's dependency on the son in most all respects, namely, for food, taxes, maintenance of the home and their persons, and in most all other ways, was testified to. The only exception to a case of complete dependency was that the mother, as applicant, owned the home and was on relief getting about enough money to pay for part of the clothing that she needed. The deceased son was the only person giving support to the applicant and after the son's death social security was paid to the mother. Dependency is not a question of complete dependency and is not determined by whether or not the dependent person gets every cent needed for his or her support from the person depended upon but whether or not there is any dependency in fact, whether or not an obligation exists (which is recognized by our statute) and whether or not this dependency existed at the time of death and was needed to maintain the claimant in her station in life.

(See *Hancock vs. Industrial Commission*, 58 Utah 192, 198 Pac. 169; *Park Utah Consolidated Mines vs. Industrial Commission*, *supra*; *Rigby vs. Industrial Commission*, 75 Utah 454, 286 Pac. 628).

As in other compensation cases, dependency is a question of fact and it is up to the Industrial Commission to determine that fact. There is certainly sufficient evidence to warrant such a finding and unless said decision or finding appears to your honorable body to be

arbitrary and capricious, the commission's decision should stand.

(See *Rigby vs. Industrial Commission*, *supra*;
Utah Fuel Company vs. Industrial Commission,
80 Utah 301, 15 Pac. (2d) 297).

It is unfortunate that the decision of the commission failed to contain concise words showing definitely a finding of dependency but certainly such words would add nothing material. Certainly the plaintiffs cannot claim surprise or injury because dependency would have to be an issue in this case. The applicant appeared in the capacity of a dependent; the case had to either be heard, or denied on that very issue. The commission took steps as disclosed by the record, to determine the question of dependency and the mere fact that the application was not denied and that an award was made, is in and of itself, especially in view of these facts, a finding of dependency. It is conceded that even though an implication of dependency is not the best substitute for an actual finding, the Defendants contend that the requirement of the law has been met.

The Plaintiff objects further to the manner in which the decision was worded. The Plaintiff apparently fears that in case of death or re-marriage, the award remains as is regardless of any other contingency that might happen. Defendants desire to submit that this manner of making awards has been going on for some time; that as yet no trouble has arisen and that a study of Section 42-1a-33 should reveal that the statute protects the Plain-

tiff against any of these contingencies arising. This section provides that immediately upon these contingencies arising, the beneficiary shall be entitled to receive one-third of the benefits remaining unpaid. Defendants fail to see where any particular wording or failure to insert some particular wording would cancel the effect of this statute.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion it is submitted that the decision of the commission awarding compensation to the mother of the deceased should be affirmed for the reasons herein stated.